# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPCOPY

# NO. 2007-KA-01834 COA

TONY AMES

FILED

APPELLANT

V.

.

J

AUG 1 3 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS George T. Holmes, MSB No.

Counsel for Appellant

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-KA-01834 COA

#### TONY AMES

APPELLANT

V.

### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER A DIRECTED VERDICT FOR THE ARMED ROBBERY CHARGE WAS REQUIRED AND WHETHER THE VERDICT UNDER BOTH COUNTS IS SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE?
- ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER AMES WAS ENTITLED TO A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE SIMPLE ASSAULT JURY INSTRUCTION?
- ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY LIMITED THE CROSS EXAMINATION OF STATE WITNESS JAMES FARIS?
- ISSUE NO. 4: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY LIMITED THEORY OF DEFENSE EVIDENCE?
- ISSUE NO. 5: WHETHER BEING TRIED IN JAIL CLOTHES PREJUDICED AMES?
- ISSUE NO. 6: WHETHER THE STATE WAS ALLOWED TO IMPROPERLY ATTEMPT TO IMPEACH A DEFENSE WITNESS WITH PRIOR TESTIMONY?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi where Tony Ames was convicted of armed robbery and aggravated assault. A jury trial was conducted August 27-29, 2007, with Honorable James T. Kitchens, Jr., Circuit Judge, presiding. Ames was sentenced to sixteen years for the armed robbery and ten years, concurrent, for the aggravated assault, and is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### **FACTS**

Preston Halbert got beat up in the Lowndes County town of Crawford on January 10, 2006. [T.112-14]. The incident was reported to law enforcement. [T. 116-17]. The officers who responded and initially investigated the incident told Halbert to go to Justice Court and file a misdemeanor simple assault complaint. [T.118-19, 251-52]. Halbert said he did this after going to the emergency room the following day. *Id*.

Following his emergency room visit, Halbert had surgery to fix a broken check bone and fractures to sinus walls. [T. 117-18, 234-35]. Halbert told the nurse practitioner who testified at trial he was attacked by two men. [T. 238-39]. No mention was made of an attempted robbery nor of the use of any type weapons. *Id*.

When Halbert went to justice court, all bandaged up from his surgery, he for the first time apparently told a justice court judge a version of events which the justice court judge interpreted as involving a possible attempted robbery. [T. 118-19, 225 251-52, 333-35, 341-42]. The justice court judge sent Halbert to the sheriff's office where Halbert told investigator John Faris that on the night of the incident, the appellant, Tony Ames, and Ames' cousin Donnell Briggs, claimed they were owed money, threatened to knock Halbert's teeth out, then beat him up with brass knuckles and cut him with a homemade knife. [T. 110, 251-52]. Nothing was taken from Halbert and there was no description to the investigator nor the jury of any attempt whatsoever to take personal property from Halbert. [T. 120, 132].

At trial Halbert testified as he was walking down the street on the way to buy his sister some cigarettes, at about 8:00 p. m. on January 10, 2006, he ran into Carol Malone. [T. 104-05, 188-89]. The two proceeded down the street together and it started raining. *Id.* Carol and Halbert then asked the appellant Tony Ames and his cousin Donnell Briggs for a ride. [T. 188-90]. Briggs and Ames obliged, and drove Halbert and Carol to a nearby store. [T. 192].

Here the evidence diverged. According to Halbert, Ames and Briggs asked for payment of money for an alleged debt, when Halbert denied the debt, they beat him up, but did not take anything from Halbert even though they had ample opportunity. [T. 108, 114, 120, 132, 192]. Halbert lost his billfold running from the fight scene. [T. 120].

Halbert said Ames had brass knuckles and Briggs had a home made weapon rigged from a razor and a stick. [T. 111, 113, 154-55]. This version of events was partially corroborated by Carol who said she saw something shiny in Ames' hands but did not see the homemade device. [T.192-97, 216]. Carol did not call the police, nor seek help for Halbert. [T. 223]. She did check on Halbert the next day. *Id*.

Ames and Briggs were separately arrested and questioned some two weeks after the accident.[T.365]. Ames and Briggs both testified that Halbert attacked Ames with a large knife and they vigorously fought Halbert off until Halbert relinquished his weapon. [T. 282-88, 325-27]. Ames received a bad defensive wound, a cut to the inside and palm of one of his hands inflicted from stopping Halbert's violent homicidal knife attack. [T.

292, 315, 318-20, 331 ]. Both Ames and Briggs denied the possession or use of any weapon and denied any attempt to take any personal property from Halbert. [T. 282-93, 330-31]. When Investigator Faris interviewed Ames and Briggs, they both described how Halbert was the instigator of an attack on Ames with a knife. [T. 326]. No weapons were recovered. [T. 253].

As a result of Halbert's statements to sheriff's investigators after being sent to them by the justice court judge, Briggs and Ames were indicted for aggravated assault and armed robbery. Briggs was tried separately from Ames, and was acquitted of the armed robbery but convicted of the aggravated assault. [T. 10]. Ames was convicted of both armed robbery and aggravated assault. [R. 72-76].

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

There should have been a directed verdict on the armed robbery charge. As to both counts, the verdict is not supported by the weight of evidence. Ames was entitled to a lesser included offense simple assault jury instruction but did not receive one. The trial court improperly limited the cross examination of state witness James Faris. The trial court improperly limited defendant's theory of defense evidence. Being tried in jail clothes prejudiced Ames. The state was allowed to improperly attempt to impeach a defense witness with prior testimony.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

# ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER A DIRECTED VERDICT FOR THE ARMED ROBBERY CHARGE WAS REQUIRED AND WHETHER THE VERDICT UNDER BOTH COUNTS IS SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE?

#### Directed Verdict

As required, when reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, the Court has to decide whether the state's evidence, viewed in its best possible light, is sufficient to support a verdict of guilty and whether a reasonable jury could fairly reach a guilty verdict beyond a reasonable doubt on the evidence presented. *Nichols v. State*, 822 So. 2d 984, 989 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). In *Carr v. State*, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss.1968), the court held that in considering sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction under a motion for directed verdict or for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the crux of the inquiry is whether the evidence establishes proof "beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction."

It is Ames' position here that as to count one, the armed robbery charge, there was no evidence of a robbery or attempted robbery. Looking at the state's evidence in the best possible light, there was simply a claim for money followed by a refusal to pay and denial of any debt and then an alleged assault.

Since no one claimed anything was taken, this should be considered an attempted armed robbery. Under common law, "an attempt to commit a crime consists of three elements: (1) an intent to commit a particular crime; (2) a direct ineffectual act done toward its commission; and (3) the failure to consummate its commission." *Henderson v. State*, 660 So. 2d 220, 222 (Miss. 1995). Mississippi's armed robbery statutes encompasses attempts.<sup>1</sup>

There are three elements of robbery: "(1) felonious intent; (2) force or putting in fear as a means of effectuating the intent; and (3) by that means, taking and carrying away the personal property of another from the person or in his presence."*Crocker v. State*, 272 So.2d 664, 665 (Miss.1973). See also *Garner v. State*, 944 So.2d 934, 939-40 (Miss. App. 2006). If a deadly weapon is used or displayed to effect the robbery, the offense becomes armed robbery under Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-79 (Rev.2006).

The reasoning in *Clayton v. State*, 759 So.2d 1169, 1172 (Miss.1999) is informative. In *Clayton* a lady's purse was snatched in the parking lot of the Piggly-Wiggly in Winona. The perpetrator came up from behind the victim so that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>§ Miss. Code Ann. 97-3-79. (Rev. 2006): Robbery using deadly weapon; punishment Every person who shall feloniously take or attempt to take from the person or from the presence the personal property of another and against his will by violence to his person or by putting such person in fear of immediate injury to his person by the exhibition of a deadly weapon shall be guilty of robbery and, upon conviction, shall be imprisoned for life in the state penitentiary if the penalty is so fixed by the jury; and in cases where the jury fails to fix the penalty at imprisonment for life in the state penitentiary the court shall fix the penalty at imprisonment in the state penitentiary for any term not less than three (3) years.

victim was never put in fear. Clayton was indicted, and convicted of robbery. On appeal, Clayton argued that the state did not prove a causal connection between fear and the taking of the victim's property. The indictment did not charge that the taking was by force. *Id*.

The Court reversed Clayton's conviction recognizing that, "the State must have shown that Clayton took some action which was intended by him to intimidate or cause fear in the victim...," citing *Register v. State*, 232 Miss. 128, 132-33, 97 So.2d 919, 921-22 (1957). In *Register*, the court held

If force is relied on in proof of the charge, it must be the force by which another is deprived of, and the offender gains, the possession. If putting in fear is relied on, it must be the fear under duress of which the possession is parted with. The taking, as it has been expressed, must be the result of the force or fear; and force or fear which is a consequence, and not the means, of the taking, will not suffice.

In *Clayton*, the victim did not know that she was being robbed until her purse was snatched. Here in Ames' case, there was not causal connection between any violence or weapon and a taking or attempted taking of personal property.

Since there was no causal connection in *Clayton*, the court was required to reverse the robbery conviction in that case. It follows, as a matter of law, that this Court now should reverse Ames' conviction because there was no causal connection as stated above.

The rational suggested to the Court now has been consistently applied. See *Jones v. State*, 567 So.2d 1189, 1192 (Miss. 1990), where the Court reversed a robbery conviction stating that a jury instruction was fatally defective because it did not "set out

the cause and effect relationship between the taking and the putting in fear." Citing *Crocker v. State*, 272 So.2d 664 (Miss.1973). The *Jones* court again made it abundantly clear that there must be force or fear of force which causes the owner to part with his or her possessions for a robbery to have occurred.

ι.

Under the evidence in this case, it could be said that Halbert did not know that there might have been an attempted robbery until two weeks later when he was in justice court. Under the state's version of events, it was after Halbert denied the debt that any alleged weapons were used. There was no display of a weapon in conjunction with an attempted robbery. During the alleged demand for money, there was no display of a weapon.. The alleged weapon associated with Ames was brass knuckles. The brass knuckles in this case were used allegedly only during the assault portion of the offense. No weapon was used as an instrument to separate Halbert from his money.

In *Gilmore v. State*, 772 So.2d 1095, 1099 (¶¶ 10-11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000), there was no evidence that the defendant used a weapon to injure the victim's leg during an alleged armed robbery. It was dark, no one saw the defendant with any weapon and the injury to the victim "occurred during the course of a struggle" and could have resulted "from a stick or other instrumentality that was already there". *Id.* That the victim in *Gilmore* was purposely injured during a robbery was nothing more than a possibility and "convictions cannot be sustained upon mere possibilities." [citing *Westbrook v. State*, 202 Miss. 426, 32 So.2d 251, 252 (1947).] The *Gilmore* court, however, did find the

evidence supported a simple robbery so rendered a conviction for robbery with remand for resentencing.

*Gilmore* is analogous because the state there did not prove that the victim's injuries result directly from any instrumentality of an armed robbery. There was no proven causal connection between the alleged robber's tool and the injury. Here, similarly to *Gilmore*, Halbert's injuries were not proven to be causally connected to any robbery or attempted robbery.

#### Weight of the Evidence

A reversal and remand is required on a motion for new trial challenging the weight of the evidence when the trial court abuses its discretion in denying the motion. *Sheffield* v. *State*, 749 So.2d 123, 127 (¶15) (Miss.1999).

In *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005), the court said that in reviewing a denial of a motion for new trial the court will only reverse if the trial court verdict "is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." [citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997)]. The evidence is to be viewed in a light "most favorable to the verdict". *Id*.

In the best light to the state, the facts were that Ames and Briggs told Halbert that Halbert owed them money. [T. 108-09, 192]. Halbert denied owing any debt. Ames and

Briggs beat Halbert up, then left without taking or attempting to take anything. Id.

When Halbert was first interviewed, he did not mention anything about a robbery or attempted robbery. [T.118-19, 251-52]. Responding officers sent him to justice court to file a misdemeanor complaint for simple assault. *Id*. Halbert injuries must not have appeared very bad. [T. 116-17]. Halbert did not mention robbery to the nurse practitioner who treated him. [T. 238-39]. Nor was there any recorded reference to the use of any weapon noted from the nurse practitioner's intake and review of medical records. *Id*. The nurse practitioner did not describe any cuts or lacerations to Halbert. [T. 234].

It was not until Halbert appeared before the justice court judge, after his surgery, all bandaged up did he ever mention anything resembling a robbery attempt. [T. 118-19, 225 251-52, 333-35, 341-42]. At justice court, there was some discussion about Halbert wanting money for his "medical expenses" even though he was a Medicare recipient. [T. 101, 123-24, 226, 336]. Halbert's injuries were not life threatening. [T. 237].

The trial court should have granted Ames' directed verdict as to the armed robbery count. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, there was a demand for payment of an alleged debt, a denial of the debt, and then a retaliatory assault. There was no taking or attempting taking of any personal property. No reasonable jury could have convicted Ames of armed robbery.

Appellant acknowledges the role usually relegated to juries to resolve questions of fact and resolve conflicting testimony and in so doing to render a verdict. However, there

is a dividing line when discrepancies are so conflicting, in the state's case in chief, that this court has to say that a verdict of guilty cannot be supported. *McClain v. State*, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss.1993). In this case the testimony and evidence tending to support the verdict should not lead a reasonable person to conclude that a robbery or attempted robbery took place. Moreover, the evidence was unreliable.

There were ample opportunities in Halbert's version of events for Ames and Briggs to attack and rob him, there were numerous dark and deserted allies along the way to the store. [T. 148, 212]. When they arrived at the store, the parking lot was lit, people were in the store. [T. 149, 212]. Halbert said he was allegedly knocked unconscious; but, nothing was taken from him; and, there was no evidence of an attempt. [T. 114]. The state's evidence is totally inconsistent with a robbery scenario.

In *Edwards v. State*, 736 So. 2d 475, 484-85 (¶¶32-37) (Miss. Ct. App.1999), the court held that the evidence was sufficient to survive directed verdict but was too dubious for a guilty verdict. The overwhelming evidence did not however establish Edwards's innocence either. The *Edwards* court said even though "weighing evidence is solely the jury's function [citation omitted], ...[w]e are nonetheless here left with the firm belief that to allow this conviction to stand based on this evidence is an unconscionable injustice. *Id.* The same result should come in the present case.

# ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER AMES WAS ENTITLED TO A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE SIMPLE ASSAULT JURY INSTRUCTION?

Even though there was testimony that neither Ames nor Briggs had any weapons and that they had fought Halbert only to defend themselves from attack with a large knife, and even though Halbert's injuries were not life threatening, and even though Ames presented evidence of physical injury to his hand of a defensive nature, the trial court refused Ames' requested simple assault instruction. [JI D-3, R. 69] [T. 292, 315, 318-20, 331, 389-91].

The court in *Harbin v. State*, 478 So.2d 796, 799-800. (Miss.1985), reviewed the test to be used on appeal to decide whether a lesser included offense instruction should have been granted. A lesser included instruction should be given by a trial court when a hypothetical jury could have convicted the defendant of the lesser offense with the evidence viewed "in the light most favorable to the accused" with all "favorable inferences" reasonably drawn from evidence.

If a reasonable jury could find the defendant not guilty of the offense charged in the indictment, yet guilty of the lesser offense, a lesser-included instruction should be given. *White v. State*, 842 So.2d 565, 575( $\P$ 30) (Miss.2003). See also *Brown v. State*, 934 So. 2d 1039, 1042-43 ( $\P$  $\P$ 7-12) Miss. App. 2006). Only where the evidence could justify a conviction of the principal charge and not the lesser should a lesser offense instruction be refused. *Id*.

According to Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-7(1) (Rev.2006), "[a] person is guilty of simple assault if he (a) attempts to cause or purposely, knowingly or recklessly causes bodily injury to another; or (b) negligently causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm...."

Under Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-7(2)(a), "[a] person is guilty of aggravated assault if he (a) attempts to cause serious bodily injury to another, or causes such injury purposely, knowingly or recklessly under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life...."

In *Bright v. State*, --- So.2d ----, No. 2006-KA-01970-COA (Miss. Ct. App. March 4, 2008). Bright intentionally attacked the victim who had previously allegedly raped Bright's mother. Bright was found guilty of aggravated assault and argued on appeal that he was entitled to a lesser included offense instruction for simple assault. The *Bright* court pointed out that "Mississippi cases have explained on several occasions that aggravated assault under section §97-3-7(2)(a) and simple assault under §97-3-7(1)(a) are distinguished mainly by the extent of the victim's injury, i.e., whether the victim suffered 'bodily injury' or 'serious bodily injury' resulted is a question for the jury." [Citations omitted.].

The victim in *Bright* suffered "significant injury to his facial bones", his "eye socket bones and nasal bones were broken and cheek and jaw bones were 'sheared away

from the scull." (*Bright*, ( $\P$  8). There was "surgery to repair [the victim's] face using plates and wires to reconstruct the broken bones. At trial, the victim had "healed, but he was still experiencing numbress in his face." *Id*.

The *Bright* court distinguished the facts in that case from *Taylor v. State*, 577 So.2d 381, 383-84 (Miss.1991). In *Taylor*, an aggravated assault defendant repeatedly punched a victim's face while allegedly raping her. *Id.* at 381-82. This beating resulted in "bruising and bleeding to [the victim's] face" and nerve damage." *Id.* at 382-83. In *Taylor*, the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed the trial court's denial of a lesser included simple assault instruction, partially due to "the disparity in maximum punishments for rape and simple assault, respectively, life imprisonment and six months' imprisonment." *Id.* at 383.

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