IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TONY AMES

VS.

APPELLANT

FILED

SEP 1 6 2008

NO. 20007-KA-1834-COA

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

the charges. R. 282-360.

Therefore, this issue is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION IV

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. AND THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY LIMITED HEARSAY TESTIMONY FROM AMES WITHOUT PREVENTING HIM FROM PRESENTING HIS DEFENSE.

Ames believes that the trial court erred in sustaining an objection to hearsay during his testimony. Ames thinks this preventing him from explaining to the jury what happened to him when he went to justice court. Since the result of his going to justice court two weeks after the incidents in question resulted in the charges being changed from simple to aggravated assault, he believes this testimony would have been helpful to his defense. He further thinks that he had a right to use this as impeachment of Halbert, since he had already testified about going to justice court. Appellant's brief page 19-22.

The record reflects that the issue of impeaching Halbert's testimony was not raised with the trial court and was therefore waived. R. 333-338. C.P. 79. In **Duplantis v. State**, 708 So. 2d 1327, 1346 (Miss. 1998).

In the case at bar, Duplantis failed to object at trial on the same grounds that he alleges on appeal. The rule is that when counsel objects to evidence, he must point out to the trial judge the specific reason for or the ground of the objection or else the objection is waived. **Norman v. State**, 302 So. 2d 254, 259 (Miss. 1974).

In addition, the record reflects that the trial court properly sustained objections to hearsay. Ames was attempting to testify about what others ("Sonny Sanders called") said to him over the telephone. R. 333. Ames next attempted to testify about what "Judge Phillip Robertson" allegedly said to him in Justice Court. Another objection to hearsay was sustained. R. 334-335. However, the trial court informed Ames that he could testify about what happened or what he did as a result of the hearing in Justice Court. An additional objection was sustained to questions about whether Ames was "required to pay medical bills?" R. 335.

As to alleged previous hearsay testimony, the record reflects that Mr. Halbert who admitted to being illiterate, testified about going to "the small court." This was in answer to a question about where he was sent after he went to justice court. R. 118-119.

He testified to going from the doctor bandaged up to the justice court back to the doctor and then the sheriff's office. R. 118-119. The record reflects that Halbert did not testify to any thing of substance related to any evidence against Ames in his testimony. And there was no objection to Ames being prevented from testifying about alleged previously introduced hearsay testimony.

The Appellee would submit that this issue was therefore waived. **Duplantis**, supra.

Q. Where did they tell you to go when you went to justice court.

A. They told me to go to the –they sent me up to the judge and the judge—the judge believed me, you know what I'm talking about. The judge believed what they did, you know what I'm saying. But I told them—I told them to pay—pay for my—you know, what-the damages that they had did to my face. R. 119.

The second reference to the justice court was during the testimony of Carole Malone. R. 225-226. However, she was not questioned about and did not testify about what others said or did in justice court. She merely testified that she went to justice court two weeks later and that she spoke with law enforcement when she went to the court. R. 225-226.

The Appellee would submit that the record reflects that the trial court did not err during Ames' testimony. Ames was not prevented from presenting his side of the story concerning the charges against him. He testified about his displeasure at having the original misdemeanor charges changed to felony charges. R. 336-337. As stated by Ames in his own testimony:

I was incarcerated before I ever talked to the investigator. He talked to us about six hours after we—after we had came for justice court. And after he got the statement from him, that's when he called us up there and talked to us. After we told our side of the story, that's when James Faris changed my charge to armed robbery and aggravated assault. And I'm like, "I don't rob nobody." I said, "You can't change my charge. How you going to change my charge?"

Q. So it went from being a simple assault in justice court to being-

A. To two felonies. And if I knew that simple assault was a misdemeanor then, I would have plead guilty to it then. But I felt like I ain't do nothing wrong, so I plead not guilty. R. 337

He also testified extensively about how he allegedly defended himself against Mr. Halbert, and how he did not allegedly rob him. He testified that he and Briggs had no brass knuckles or any other weapon. R 325-330.

In Nalls v. State 651 So.2d 1074, 1076 -1077 (Miss.1995), relied upon by Ames, the Supreme Court, affirmed Nalls' conviction. Any error in not allowing additional cross examination about crime lab personnel problems was harmless given overwhelming evidence of guilt.

Nalls is also distinguishable because he, unlike Ames, preserved the issue for appeal. As stated above, cross examination of hearsay was not raised with the trial court. R. 333-338. C.P. 79.

Despite the error, we affirm the conviction because we find the error to be harmless. Although Maddox's conduct in the crime lab, at best, raises questions about the integrity of the cocaine attributed to Nalls once it reached the crime lab, the results of the field test on the rocks retrieved at the scene of the *1077 (Cite as: 651 So.2d 1074, *1077) crime are undisputed. Moreover, there is no evidence that some other rocks were substituted for those obtained from Nalls and Chapman's independent analysis of those rocks is similarly undisputed. The evidence supports a jury verdict that Nalls was guilty of possessing cocaine to the extent that we can say beyond a reasonable doubt that no juror would have decided differently had they been exposed to information concerning Maddox's transgression.

The Appellee would submit that this issue is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION V

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. AND AMES WAS NOT WEARING HAND CUFFS OR SHACKLES ONLY A JUMP SUIT ISSUED BY THE JAIL AT THE BEGINNING OF VOIR DIRE.

Ames believes that he was prejudiced before the jury because they saw him wearing prison attire rather than civilian attire. He believes he should not have been forced into being tried in jail attire. He thinks these jump suit made the jury think of him as a criminal rather than merely as a defendant in a criminal case. Appellant's brief page 23-26.

To the contrary, the record reflects no objection to Ames' jump suit by the defense. R. 8-13. The record further reflects that Ames made inadequate arrangements for obtaining his own clothes. The trial court and prosecution did not force Ames to wear anything. To the contrary, they tried to find civilian clothing for Ames in the court house but could not do so.

The trial court delayed the trial by some twenty minutes. He allowed time to look for clothing as well as for time for Ames' mother, who according to Ames was supposedly bringing him some civilian clothes. He also allowed for Ames' to change clothes "at a break" should the mother arrive after the jury was seated. R. 8-13.

Under these circumstances, the trial court can not be said to have "forced" Ames into being tried in prison attire. It is also to be noted that there was no evidence that Ames was either handcuffed nor shackled during the trial.

The record reflects that the trial court pointed out that Ames was not "in shackles." R. 9. He was wearing "a jump suit that the jail issues." R. 7. The record reflects that although Ames' trial had been set for three months, he apparently made inadequate arrangements to have any civilian clothing available the day of his trial. Although he thought his mother was going to bring him some

clothes, and the court delayed the trial for her to arrive with clothing, she apparently did not appear prior to jury being brought in for voir dire.

The Appellee can find no record evidence indicating what happened after voir dire as far as what clothes Ames was wearing thereafter. R. 2-100.. To the best of our knowledge, this issue was not raised in any of Ames' post conviction motions. C.P. 79.

In **Mason v. State**, 440 So. 2d 318, 319 (Miss. 1983) the court stated facts which are not supported by record evidence should be ignored on appeal.

(Discussion at the bench)

Court: Mr. Ames has been set for trial for three months. He is in jail attire. He had indicated that he told his mother all last week to bring him clothes. She has not done so. This Court has no clothing for him to wear up here, other than the clothing that the sheriff's department has given him. I've made—I even recessed the jury for another 15 or 20 minutes to give his mother time to be here, and she has apparently not shown up. If she does show up and has some regular clothing for him, then I will allow him to change at a break, but until she does, I cannot continue this case any further. He has indicated, "he" being Mr Ames, has indicated to the court that she knew several times last week that she was supposed to bring clothes. Okay. R. 12. (Emphasis by Appellee).

In **Jackson v. State** 860 So. 2d 653, 668 (¶ 49) (Miss. 2003), the Supreme Court found that there was no prejudice to Jackson where he wore MDOC prison attire. There was evidence, as there was in the instant cause, that the trial court gave the defendant an opportunity to wear other clothes but none was available at the time of trial.

In addition, in **Jackson**, **supra**, there was an objection to the clothing as being sufficient for prejudicing him in the eyes of the jury.

¶ 49. Although raised, the prison attire issue was not addressed in the direct appeal opinion. Jackson now argues that his trial attire precipitated a "substantial danger of destruction in the minds of the jury of the presumption of innocence." (quoting **Hickson v. State**, 472 So.2d 379, 383 (Miss.1979)) (concerning a handcuffed defendant). However, there is no merit to this claim as Jackson was not dressed in attire that would necessarily conjure up the image of "prisoner." The Supreme Court

of the United States has stated that prejudicial attire is "distinctive, identifiable attire," that may affect a juror's judgment. **Estelle v. Williams**, 425 U.S. 501, 504-05, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 1693, 48 L. Ed.2d 126, 131 (1976). Further, a constitutional violation may occur where a judge compels a defendant to wear such attire, thus resulting in prejudice. Id. The record reveals that Jackson's attire consisted of ordinary navy pants and a blue chambray shirt. Jackson's counsel objected at trial since the clothing was provided by the Department of Corrections, but was overruled on the basis that the clothing was not distinguishable from ordinary, everyday clothing. Further, the trial judge did not deny Jackson the opportunity to change his clothing, but recognized and explained on record that no other clothing was available.

The Appellee would submit that this issue was not only waived for failure to object on the grounds being raised on appeal but that it is also lacking in merit without record support.

PROPOSITION VI

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. AND THE IMPEACHMENT OF BRIGGS WAS PROPER UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

Ames believes that co-defendant, Briggs, was subjected to improper impeachment during his trial. Since Briggs had been tried previously, and there was a transcript of his testimony, his prior testimony was allegedly improperly used. It was improper because he thinks Briggs testimony at his trial was not actually contradictory of his testimony in the instant cause. Ames thinks this prejudiced his defense in the instant cause. Appellant's brief page 26-27.

To the contrary, the record reflects there was no specific objection by Ames or his counsel to the cross examination of Briggs on the grounds being argued on appeal. R. 301-307; C.P. 79. Ames counsel merely stated that she thought the relevant portions of the record should not be "reread into the record." R. 362.

In **Burns v. State**, 729 So. 2d 203, 219 (¶ 67)(Miss 1998), this court stated that one could not expand upon an objection made at trail on appeal.

In Conner, this Court held that an objection on one or more specific grounds constitutes a waiver of all other grounds. Id at 1255 (citing Stringer v. State, 279 So. 2d 156, 158 (Miss. 1973). See also Brown v. State, 682 So. 2d 340, 350 (Miss. 1996). It has long been the finding of this Court that "an objection at trial cannot be enlarged in a reviewing court to embrace an omission not complained of at trial. Brown, 682 at 350 (citing McGarrh v. State, 249 Miss. 247, 148 So. 2d 494, 506 (1963). This claim is procedurally barred. Objection on one or more specific grounds at trial constitutes a waiver of all other grounds for objection on appeal. Burns v. State, 728 So.2d 203 (Miss. 1998).

The record reflects that Briggs testified that he saw Ames struggling with Halbert. Halbert allegedly pulled out a knife, and "going toward my cousin with a—with a knife." R. 283. He testified that Ames was "on the ground," and this was when he admitted to hitting Halbert. R. 283. He admitted that he had had "a few

beers." R. 283.

On cross examination, Briggs was questioned if in his prior testimony he had not said he had had "three or four beers." R. 299. When confronted with the transcript which had him saying "three or four," Briggs persisted in testifying that he had actually said, "a few beers." R. 301.

When Briggs was questioned about whether he heard Ames and Halbert arguing in the car, he testified, "No, I did not." R. 304. (Emphasis by Appellee).

When questioned as to whether he told Mr. Faris at the Lowndes County Sheriff's Department, that he could hear Ames arguing with Halbert in the car, he denied he made such a statement, R. 304.

When Briggs was questioned about what he saw when he allegedly came around a corner, he testified he could not recall having said that he saw Ames slip and fall to the ground. R. 308. Rather he said he saw Ames "already" on the ground. R. 363.. Whereas, in his transcript testimony he saw Ames already on the ground. He did not know how he got there but "apparently, he slipped." R. 264.

The trial court's ruling that only the portions of the transcript that

Court: However, the entire transcript of the testimony will not go to the jury, only those portions that deal with specific denials that Mr. Briggs made to questions that Mr. Allgood proffered to him. There were a number of times when Mr Briggs either did not absolutely admit yes or no, or there was enough jousting that I've said that that—that Mr. Allgood could take that as a denial for purposes of impeachment. So those instances will be able to be inquired of. Other than that, anything else in here I need to know about out of the presence of the jury, if it's proffered. R. 361-362. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Clinkscales: Your Honor, I would object to that inasmuch as the cross examination of Mr. Briggs, those portions to which I believe he's referred have already been read and the answers have already been read into the record as well. I don't see the need to reread that into the record.

Court: Your objection is noted and overruled at this time. R. 362.

In Conley v. State 790 So.2d 773, 786 (Miss. 2001), the Supreme Court found that using leading questions "to pin down" a witness where there was evidence of prior relevant "inconsistent statements" was permissible.

¶ 38. The State cites **Hughes v. State**, 735 So.2d 238, 279 (Miss.1999), in support of its argument that the re-direct of Teronda was proper. In Hughes, we held that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in allowing the State to use leading questions when the witness "was the very paradigm of a hostile witness." The Court stated that "[h]er testimony not only deviated substantially from her pretrial prior statement, but was also inconsistent during both direct and cross-examination. The State was justified in attempting to pin [the witness] down with one version of her story or the other; and, the trial judge was correct in allowing leading questions to this effect." Id. The State contends that at this point in the trial, Teronda had become a hostile witness, closely identified with the defendant and, therefore, subject to examination by leading questions.

In **Thomas v. State**, 247 Miss 704, 159 So. 2d 77, 80 (1963), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that "this court" should give "all reasonable presumptions in favor of the rulings of the court below."

The Appellee would submit that this issue was waived. In addition, the record cited indicates there were "contradictions" as well as "inconsistencies" in the substance of relevant testimony.

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